

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

The Relationship Between Programming After Critical Incidents, Shootings, and Resilience in Police

Michelle Lise Vincent Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Cognitive Psychology Commons, and the Quantitative Psychology Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Michelle Vincent

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Jana Price-Sharps, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Scott Gfeller, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Stephen Hampe, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

The Relationship Between Programming After Critical Incidents, Shootings, and
Resilience in Police

by

Michelle Vincent

MACP, Yorkville University, 2016 BS, Laurentian University, 1993

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Forensic Psychology-Crisis Response

Walden University

May 2021

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to examine whether there was a relationship between resilience, posttraumatic growth, and reintegration programming after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting through the cognitive, self-efficacy and resiliency theoretical lenses. The research aimed to determine if police officers, who participated in reintegration programming, specifically in this study, Edmonton Police's Reintegration After Critical Incident programming, produced higher scores in resiliency as measured on the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC) and posttraumatic growth, as measured on the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory scale (PTGI), with Canadian police officers compared to police officers who do not participate in this programming. A total of 68 participants were assigned to each group; one group of 34 who had participated in Reintegration After Critical Incident programming subsequent to their critical incident and one group of 34 who did not participate in Reintegration After Critical Incident programming subsequent to their critical incident. Using a comparative design, two separate One Way ANOVAs, determined that there was statistical significance in the relationship between resilience and participation in Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. This research determined there was no statistical significance between posttraumatic growth and Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. Implications for positive social change are that Reintegration After Critical Incident programming may prevent serious mental health issues through higher resilience in police officers after experiencing a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting should this programming be implemented in policing organizations.

The Relationship Between Programming After Critical Incidents, Shootings, and Resilience in Police

by

Michelle Vincent

MACP, Yorkville University, 2016 BS, Laurentian University, 1993

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Forensic Psychology-Crisis Response

Walden University

May 2021

Dedication

I wish to dedicate this research document relating to essential mental health components, to all of the first responders and uniform personnel in the world who have served, are still serving and are inspired to serve their communities. You are our true heroes. Without you, what would our community look like?

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge so many who have inspired me, wiped my tears, covered for me, and been there through thick and thin on this very special doctoral journey. Colleagues, friends, mentors and some, all of the above. Retired S/Sgt Brad McKay, retired Sgt Syd Gravelle, retired Sgt Bill Rusk, Dr. Peter Collins, Renee Francoeur, retired Supt Bernadine Chapman, S/Sgt/President Rob O'Quinn, retired Sgt Ralphie Jackson, Insp Kelvin Chantium, Sgt Dave Stilo (in spirit), Dr. Kyle Handley, Insp Sandy Staniforth, PC Phil Sheldon, Sgt Glen Klose, Sgt Colleen Mooney, Sgt Carmen Klose, PC Stu Coleman, Lesleigh, Renee, Crystal Eves, Dr. Judith Andersen, Dr. Stephanie Conn, retired Sgt Jacques Denis Simard, Genevieve Arguin, Dr. Cecile Leclerc, Det/Sgt JP Perron, James Buchanan, Melissa Petriglia, Brent McKintyre, Matthew Fleischmann, Sgt Janet McKinley, retired Det Brett Cole. So many of you chose to be there for me at the drop of a pin. No questions asked, just there. When I needed resources, when I felt like I simply could not continue any further, you were all there. Many of you did not even know me. You just trusted that my intentions were good and would possibly contribute to the literature of mental health care for our first responders with an understanding of the cultural lens we live through this research.

To my Committee Member, Dr. Scott Gfeller who supported me with my statistical analysis, understanding and mentorship. To my URR Dr. Steve Hampe. To Dr. Kristen Beyer our program director, who always had my back and was quietly supportive when needed at the most challenging of times. Most especially, to my Committee Chair, Dr. Jana Price-Sharps who took me under her wing and blew inspiration into all of us

students. There day and night, one of my biggest supporters, I will forever be appreciative of her soul in my life. To all of the professors I had the pleasure of engaging with through coursework and residencies, to my educational colleagues that have become great friends. To my very special Dad and Mom, Ray and Val, who raised me to be the kind, giving, loving and resilient person I am today. Who taught me that I can do, be and have anything I want and once I start something, never quit. Just approach it differently and enjoy the journey of the experience. There every moment supporting me in every way they have, and continue to be. To my amazing children, Mikayla and her husband PC Joe Parro, Brady and Marlee, my sweet grandson Cole, my special step-children Bryce, Simon and Adam, who have and continue to teach me most of what has served me to this day, sat patiently through my tears and picked me up when needed. To my motherin-law Donna who provides us all loving support. To my sister S/Sgt Andree Vincent who provided a great discussion forum for me. To Ken Scott, who was like a grandfather to me, loved the uniform and who served our country for decades in the armed forces, had every faith in my educational journey as well as my journey with The Haven. He continues to inspire me in spirit as do Dave, Garrett, Rob, Gary, Mark and so many others who are no longer physically with us, and served our community. Finally, to my sweetheart and soulmate, David, who, when I brought forth the idea of this doctoral journey, said why not? He has supported me on every level in every way. He was and continues to be my inspiration for much of what I do. Every person, every organization I have had the opportunity to engage with and every encounter has contributed to this study. For that, I am most appreciative.

Table of Contents

Ch	apter 1: Introduction to the Study1	
	Background of the Study2	
	Problem Statement	
	Purpose of the Study5	
	Research Questions and Hypotheses	
	Theoretical Foundation/Conceptual Framework	
	Nature of the Study	
	Definitions9	
	Assumptions	
	Scope and Delimitations	
	Limitations	
	Significance of the Study	
	Summary and Transition	
Ch	apter 2: Literature Review	
	Introduction	
	Literature Search Strategy	
	Theoretical Foundation	
	Resiliency Theory	
	Self-Efficacy Theory	
	Cognitive Adaptation Theory	
	Literature Review	

	Traumatic Event Exposure	23
	Resilience	25
	Posttraumatic Growth	27
	Effects of Police Organizational Culture	28
	Mandatory Programming	31
	Summary and Conclusions	33
Cł	napter 3: Research Method	36
	Research Design and Rationale	37
	Methodology	38
	Population	38
	Sampling and Sampling Procedures	38
	Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	40
	Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	40
	CD-RISC	40
	PTGI-SF	42
	Data Analysis Plan	44
	Threats to Validity	46
	Ethical Procedures	46
	Summary	48
Ch	napter 4: Results	49
	Data Collection	50
	Sample	51

Study Results	52
Research Question 1	53
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	55
Interpretation of Findings	56
Limitations of the Study	57
Recommendations	58
Implications	59
Conclusion	60
References	62

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Police officers encounter critical incidents daily, and they are required to process their experience, predisposing them to mental health issues such as anxiety, depression, and posttraumatic stress symptoms, which, if untreated, can lead to serious mental health issues such as posttraumatic stress disorder (Arble et al., 2017). The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry statistics state that police officers have a 50.2% chance of experiencing mental health issues as a result of the critical incidents they attend compared to the general population who have a 10.1% chance (Carleton et al., 2019). Some police services provide mandatory programming after their police officers have experienced what they consider to be a critical incident, such as a line of duty shooting. In this study an officer in a line of duty shooting is any police officer involved in an incident in which a firearm was produced and/or used. The police officer does not have to be the one who produced/used the firearm and may have been in the immediate area at the time of the incident. Many police services provide resources and support; however, there might not be mandatory programming to ensure the mental wellbeing of their officers after a critical incident.

In this quantitative study, resilience was explored, as measured on the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (Connor & Davidson, 2003), and posttraumatic growth, as measured on the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory scale (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2017), with police officers who are mandated to complete a specific program, Reintegration After Critical Incident, compared to police officers who do not have this mandated programming in their police service. It was anticipated the results would show that those police officers who attend Reintegration After Critical Incident programming would show greater resilience and posttraumatic growth (PTG) scores than officers who do not attend Reintegration After Critical Incident programming.

This research contributed to scholarly literature in understanding the relationship between mandatory program attendance in the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting involving police officers, resiliency, and PTG. Police recruits' attendance in certain programming has been shown to increase resiliency; however, this is prior to deployment and a gap in literature exists in programming after critical incidents (McCraty et al., 2014; Shakespeare-Finch et al., 2014). Preventing serious mental health trauma such as PTSD in police officers after they have experienced a critical incident and/or a line of duty shooting is beneficial to the community, the police officer, their family, and the organization (Kelty & Gordon,2015; Kilpatrick et al., 2013; Klose & Mooney, 2018). Greater detail related to the background and literature review is discussed in Chapter 2.

Background of the Study

Police often experience traumatic or critical incidents while in the execution of their duties (Arble et al., 2017; Chopko et al., 2018). Prevalence of PTSD amongst police officers is thought to be 13% to 21% higher than in the civilian population (McCanlie et al., 2014). Serious mental health issues affect 44.5% of public safety personnel (PSP), police being considered PSP (Carleton et al., 2020). This number alone is important to consider when the debilitating effects of this mental health disorder have the potential to remove 21% of police officers from active duty to receive treatment (Chopko et al., 2018). In order to work through critical incidents as previously described in a healthy manner, Arble et al. (2017) explained the importance of programming for police officers to support the processing of these events. Researchers have found that programming supports reframing of beliefs that may come from critical incidents such as a line of duty shooting, thereby reducing the likelihood of maladaptive symptoms that contribute to serious mental health issues such as PTSD (Arble et al., 2017). Reframing

thinking, a cognitive process, along with behavioral execution and cognitive adaptation, can be one way of supporting this process, and the Reintegration After Critical Incident program purports to provide that process (Arble et al., 2017; Chopko et al., 2018; Papazoglou & Andersen, 2014; Taylor, 1983).

Developing or enhancing self-efficacy is another way to promote resilience and PTG through the attendance of the Reintegration After Critical Incident program (Bandura, 1986; Klose & Mooney, 2018). Although there are preventative mental health programs implemented at the recruitment level in policing that have demonstrated success in short term studies (Arble et al., 2017; Papazoglou & Andersen, 2014; Shakespeare-Finch et al., 2014), research on the effects of mandatory programming after critical incidents in Canadian police officers related to resiliency do not appear to have taken place (McCreary et al., 2017). Since resiliency has been found to be a protective factor when studied in relation to acquiring PTSD as a result of critical incidents (McCanlies et al., 2014), a study of mandatory attendance to Reintegration After Critical Incident programming after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting, resilience and PTG may provide an opportunity for other policing organizations to implement this program (Chopko et al., 2018).

The research objectives were to identify the value of mandatory programming, specifically the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after critical incidents in policing, that have been shown to contribute negatively to the mental health of those police officers involved (Arble et al., 2017; Carleton et al., 2018; Chopko, Palmieri, & Adams, 2018; Klose & Mooney, 2018). Identifying a relationship between Reintegration After Critical Incident programming and resilience as well as PTG may provide evidence-based research on potential resources for police officers involved in critical incidents should positive results be found or inspire future research on other potentially valuable resources for police officers. Adding to current literature and informing police organizations of the value of this resource

available to them in support of their police officers maintaining optimal mental health is key, as well as informing the value of preventative programming in this profession.

Problem Statement

Police often experience traumatic or critical incidents while in the execution of their duties (Arble et al., 2017; Chopko et al., 2018). Statistics show that 30% of police officers are likely to experience PTSD compared to 2% of the general population and 32% show mental health injury rates of 32% with major depressive disorder compared to 7% of the general population (Carleton et al., 2018). Exposure to critical incidents is often believed to be the cause of serious mental health issues amongst police officers and these statistics support this finding (Carleton et al., 2018). The definition of a critical incident for the purpose of this study is any incident perceived as an exposure to an event whereby direct or indirect experiences of actual or threatened death, serious injury, or sexual violence and/or an incident whereby police were involved in a line of duty shooting (Klose & Mooney, 2018). PTSD is defined by Kilpatrick et al. (2013) as exposure to a/or some traumatic events whereby persons experience symptoms specifically from various categories defined in the DSM V ranging from recurrent memories to irritable and aggressive behavior. Prior to being diagnosed with PTSD, the person would have experienced what would be identified as posttraumatic stress symptoms, which if not diminished after a month, might develop into significant mental health issues including PTSD (Kilpatrick et al., 2013). Although it is not known why some people who have posttraumatic stress, distress, or symptoms develop PTSD, it is believed that resilience and PTG may play a role (Galatzer-Levy et al., 2013; Papazoglou & Andersen, 2014; Sollie et al., 2017;). Various supports to lower the instance and likelihood of PTSD (Kelty & Gordon, 2015) are available to police officers who experience posttraumatic distress or symptoms; however, these supports vary from organization to organization.

Perception of what constitutes supportive and non-supportive assistance may differ among police officers (McCanlies et al., 2014). Evans et al. (2013) found that police officers were more likely to identify listening nonjudgmentally as most supportive to their experience with peers. Some organizations, specifically the Edmonton Police Service, as well as some detachments of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Service (RCMP), have implemented a program with mandatory attendance named Reintegration After a Critical Incident after a line of duty shooting (Klose & Mooney, 2018).

How the traumatic or critical incidents and support are processed by police officers resulting in PTG and/or resiliency has been explored by Chopko et al. (2018) and Galazer-Levy et al. (2013). However, researchers have not explored whether attending programming, specifically, Reintegration After a Critical Incident affects resilience and/or PTG in police officers after experiencing a critical incident and/or a line of duty shooting, compared to police officers who do not attend such programming. The definition of resiliency as defined by Fletcher and Sarkar (2013) is the ability to experience positive adaptation after adversity. PTG is defined by Calhoun and Tedeschi (2004) as an experience of positive change or growth in one's life as a result of a traumatic incident. These authors also noted the need for future studies, including further investigation into the level of trauma and PTG as well as subsequent support available for those who experienced the trauma and its effects.

Purpose of the Study

Mandatory programming in this study refers to the Edmonton Police Services Reintegration

After Critical Incident program (Klose & Mooney, 2018; Papazoglou & Andersen, 2014). The purpose
of this study was to identify whether a relationship exists between attending such a program, resilience,
and PTG among Canadian police officers who have been involved in a critical incident as well as any
incident whereby a firearm has been involved and "used" in the line of duty. Factors such as attendance

to incidents, which may cause posttraumatic distress or symptoms (McCanlies et al., 2014), may not be avoided; however, supporting resilience and PTG through mandatory attendance in programming may be worthy of research as a gap in this area exists (Bernier, 2018; McCreary et al., 2017; Park et al., 2018).

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Question 1 (RQ1): Do police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration

After a Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting report higher

resilience scores, as measured by the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale CD-RISC, compared to police

officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program?

 H_01 : Police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting do not report higher resilience scores, as measured by the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program.

 H_a 1: Police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting do report higher resilience scores, as measured by the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program.

Research Question 2 (RQ2): Do police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting report higher PTG scores, as measured by the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory scale, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program?

 H_0 2: Police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting do not report higher scores on the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory scale compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program.

 H_a 2: Police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or a line of duty shooting do report higher scores on the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory scale compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program.

Theoretical Foundation/Conceptual Framework

According to Taylor's (1983) cognitive adaptation theory, when individuals are exposed to traumatic or critical events, they experience a cognitive adaptation that consists of three steps. The first step involves finding meaning in the experience, which in the case of the police officer, likely means a traumatic or critical incident line of duty shooting and finding meaning from that incident (Taylor, 1983). The second step involves the perception of regaining control or mastery of one's life experience, as when one is thrust into a traumatic or critical incident; the first issue becomes a loss of control, whether it be for the police officer or more often the people the officers are dealing with, in this case, a shooting (Taylor, 1983). The sense of establishing this control is essential in regaining grounding in one's world where it may have been perceptually lost even if for a moment (Thornton & Herndon, 2016; Taylor, 1983). The third step is to review the experience and notice where the individual was successful in order to support self-confidence and self-efficacy for possible future traumatic incidents (Bandura, 1983; Taylor, 1983). This third step includes the experience of resiliency and PTG (Taylor, 1983).

Reintegration After Critical Incident programming after an in the line of duty shooting and resiliency and PTG in police officers from a cognitive adaptation processing perspective (Taylor, 1983).

Another overlapping and applicable theory is that of self-efficacy developed by Bandura (1977, 1986). Bandura (1986) explained how self-efficacy involves a process of determining through self-reflection whether one is capable or not in executing a particular task. Emotional aspects including fear, whether it be anticipatory or expectant, are related to self-efficacy in that if fear is anticipated, such as the police officer anticipates being afraid of the possibility being having to deal with a similar critical incident or of shooting their firearm, the likelihood that fear will interfere with their ability to execute their duties as a police officer in a similar instance is low when their self-efficacy is high (Bandura, 1983). Whereas when fear is expected, depending on whether the police officer perceives themselves as self-efficacious is likely to determine their ability to manage their critical incident or effectively executing a shooting incident (Bandura, 1983). Ensuring police officers who have experienced a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting return to work with a high sense of self-efficacy through a program such as Reintegration After a Critical Incident may support success in future incidents, increase resilience and PTG, and reduce the likelihood of that officer developing a serious operational stress injury as a result according to this theory (Bandura, 1986; Klose & Mooney, 2018; Sollie et al., 2017).

Nature of the Study

The nature of the study was a quantitative methodology, specifically a comparative, post-test only design. The independent variable is programming either Reintegration After a Critical Incident administered programming to Canadian police officers who have been involved in any incident whereby a firearm has been involved and deployed in the line of duty through the organization or no programming administered through the organization. The survey method will be used to collect data on

the dependent variables of resiliency and PTG as measured by the CD-RISC (Campbell-Sills & Stein, 2007) and PTGI (Arpawong et al., 2016; Campbell-Sills & Stein, 2007), respectively.

In this study, police officers having experienced a line of duty shooting were identified as having completed Reintegration After a Critical Incident programming or not having completed this programming. Each group were asked to complete both the CD-RISC and the PTGI after their critical incident whether it be recent or at some point in their past during their career as police officers through the completion of a survey sent to the police officers when their organizations grant permission. Data from these measures was used to compute and analyze to determine statistical significance in the relationship, if any, between police officers who do or do not attend Reintegration After a Critical Incident program after a critical incident, resiliency, and PTG.

Definitions

Line of duty shooting: an incident with police whereby the involvement of a firearm was used, not including the euthanizing of an animal (Klose & Mooney, 2018).

Firearm used in a line of duty: any incident whereby police attended the scene in any manner and a firearm was drawn and/or pointed by police or a community member during that incident (Klose & Mooney, 2018).

Use of a firearm: includes any incident whereby a firearm was drawn by police or a member of the community with intent to cause harm (Klose & Mooney, 2018).

Critical incident: Alternate wording is traumatic incident used interchangeably meaning an incident whereby death, sexual assault, and/or serious harm may be the result (Carleton et al., 2019).

Reintegration After Critical Incident Program: A program developed by Edmonton Police Service that has mandatory attendance for police officers who have been involved in a line of duty shooting as described above prior to returning to their posted position (Klose & Mooney, 2018).

Resiliency: the ability to experience positive adaptation after adversity (Fletcher & Sakar, 2013).

Posttraumatic growth (PTG): an experience of positive change or growth in one's life as a result of a traumatic incident (Calhoun & Tedeschi, 2004).

Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD): exposure to a traumatic event or events whereby persons experience symptoms specifically from various categories defined in the DSM V ranging from recurrent memories to irritable and aggressive behavior (Kilpatrick et al., 2013).

Mental health issue: includes PTSD, major depression, anxiety, panic disorder, or any other experience that is believed to impede normal mental functioning (Carleton et al, 2019).

Assumptions

The first assumption to be made was the police officers involved in this study were not actively experiencing PTSD prior to the critical incident and were not in crisis prior to the critical incident. The second assumption was, in order to function effectively in an instance as a frontline duty police officer, mental wellbeing is necessary (Papazoglou & Andersen, 2014).

Scope and Delimitations

Although there may be many aspects that are derived from programming, such as the Reintegration After a Critical Incident, resilience, and PTG, are those that this research will focus on as they are related to the static mental health wellbeing of police officers (Chopko et al., 2018; McCraty & Atkinson, 2012). There are various programs specifically for first responders that will not be included in this study such as similar reintegration programs that do not go into depth and are less comprehensive

than Reintegration After a Critical Incident that will not be explored as they have not been implemented in multiple Canadian policing organizations (Klose & Mooney, 2018). Theories that are relevant and were not applied were the resilience theory and constructivist grounded theory that infuse a complexity not necessary for the conceptualization of this study (Greene et al., 2004; Lauridsen & Higginbottom, 2014). Participants of the study were limited to Canadian police officers however the findings may be generalizable to those working a similar demographic internationally.

Limitations

Limitations included no base level was obtained from the participants on resiliency and PTG to determine true scores of the participants of the scales being measured. The demographics of the participants from specific police organizations in the study which may have a higher instance of critical incidents/shootings and/or traumatic incidents may made it a challenge to generalize to those policing in quieter communities. Not all organizations have the financial or membership resources and/or capacity to implement not only the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program but other programs which may impact the overall wellness of the officers involved in this study.

These limitations were addressed using the assumption that regardless of the community the police officer serves and the training they receive, a line of duty shooting was considered a critical incident (Carleton et al., 2019). How the organization deals with this type of critical incident whereby death is a potential outcome, with programming Reintegration After a Critical Incident or no programming was the measure, and this may be determined without a base measure within any community. While this study may not have had any impact on current organizational limitations such as financial and/or manpower, the results may be used to inform urgency or not of such programming.

Significance of the Study

Awareness of mental health issues in police officers as a result of the traumatic or critical incidents and/or line of duty shootings they attend and must process is important from a business and organizational standpoint (Arble et al., 2017). These mental health issues include major depression, anxiety, and PTSD and may cost the family of the officer, the organization to which the officer belongs, and the community the officer serves through their potential actions making them a probable liability (Chopko et al., 2018; Galatzer-Levy et al., 2013). The potential costs as a result of absenteeism, addictions, and other serious afflictions that may occur as a result of mental health issues can be great (Chopko et al., 2018; Galatzer-Levy et al., 2013). Organizations who are viewed as supportive of their officers by the officers themselves because of their delivery of resources after experiencing a critical incident have been deemed to be a positive factor in officer mental wellness (Evans et al., 2013).

Identifying effective programming such as Reintegration After a Critical Incident that supports the mental wellbeing through the development of resiliency and PTG after a traumatic event may provide other policing organizations who do not have the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program in place, information on how they can support their officers to reintegrate in similar instances. Providing policing organizations with resources to support their officers through traumatic incidents with an effective reintegration program may reduce officer liability issues and decrease absenteeism due to mental health issues. Future studies may be derived to explore other resources and their effects on officers that may be effective as a prevention of serious mental health issues providing further options for such organizations.

Summary and Transition

It is expected that in the lifetime career of a police officer, she or he will experience numerous events for which most people would consider to be traumatic. These traumatic events may contribute to serious mental health issues if resources to deal with a healthy reintegration back to work are not implemented. In this study, the traumatic incidents that were identified as critical incidents and/or line of duty shootings and the program associated with reintegration was Reintegration After Critical Incident.

Based on cognitive adaptation theory, the purpose of this study was to compare resiliency and PTG between police officers who have attended the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting versus those officers who had not attended the Reintegration After Critical Incident after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting. The participants included were Canadian police officers from various Canadian policing organizations. The results spoke to the value of the program and perhaps programming in general related to factors that have been shown to have a positive effect on mental wellbeing. Organizational support through the delivery of such programming has been shown to have a positive effect on mental wellbeing. Although there are limitations in this study, the overall research may fill a gap of the role of Reintegration After Critical Incident programming on resiliency and PTG levels in police officers that may reduce organizational liability and absenteeism enabling police officers to serve their communities as a result of their mental wellbeing.

In Chapter 2 research literature was reviewed that explained the relationship between resiliency, PTG, and mental wellness with police officers, as well as integrated the theories of cognitive adaptation and self-efficacy.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

Police often experience traumatic or critical incidents while in the execution of their duties (Arble et al., 2017; Chopko et al., 2018). The definition of a critical incident for the purpose of this study is defined as an exposure to an event whereby direct or indirect experiences of actual or threatened death, serious injury, or sexual violence have occurred and any incident whereby police were involved with a line of duty shooting (Carleton, 2019). PTSD, as defined by Kilpatrick et al. (2013), is exposure to a traumatic event or events whereby persons experienced symptoms specifically from various categories defined in the DSM V ranging from recurrent memories to irritable and aggressive behavior. Prior to being diagnosed with PTSD, the person would have experienced what would be identified as posttraumatic stress symptoms, which if they had not diminished after a month, might have developed into significant mental health issues including PTSD (Kilpatrick et al., 2013; Marchand et al., 2015).

Although it is not known why some people who have posttraumatic stress, distress, or symptoms do or do not develop PTSD, it is believed that resilience and/or PTG may play a role (Chopko et al., 2018; Papazoglou & Andersen, 2014). Various supports such as programming are purported to lower the instance and likelihood of PTSD (Kelty & Gordon, 2015; Nanavaty, 2015) where available to police officers who experienced posttraumatic distress or symptoms; however, these supports vary from organization to organization. Researchers have found that perceptions of what constitutes supportive and nonsupportive assistance differs among police officers (McCanlies et al., 2014). For example, Evans et al. (2013) and Nanavaty (2015) found that police officers were more likely to identify listening nonjudgmentally as most supportive to their experience with peers. Some organizations, specifically the Edmonton Police Service, as well as some detachments of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Service

(RCMP), implement a program with mandatory attendance when available as a result of organizational resources, named Reintegration After a Critical Incident, after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting (Klose & Mooney, 2018).

How the traumatic or critical incidents and support were processed by police officers resulting in posttraumatic growth and/or resiliency was explored by Chopko et al. (2018) and Galazer-Levy et al. (2013). However, researchers have not explored whether attending programming, specifically Reintegration After a Critical Incident, affects resilience and/or PTG in police officers after having experienced a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting. The definition of resiliency as defined by Fletcher and Sarkar (2013) was the ability to experience positive adaptation after adversity. PTG was defined by Calhoun and Tedeschi (2004) as an experience of positive change or growth in one's life as a result of a traumatic incident. These authors also noted the need for future studies, including further investigation into the level of trauma and PTG as well as subsequent support.

Police officers were and continue to be exposed to what the general population would consider to be traumatic incidents daily in the course of their duties (Carleton et al., 2019; Violanti, 2006; Weltman et al., 2014). This exposure has been shown to influence the mental health of these police officers often causing them to become a liability on the job, and to the other extreme of being off on long term disability as a result of these traumatic experiences, to suicide. (Violanti, 2006; Weltman et al, 2014). Serious mental health issues such as depression, anxiety, posttraumatic stress injury, addictions, and suicide are tragic results that may have developed as a result of the traumatic events experienced on a regular basis as a police officer (Marchand et al., 2015; Nanavaty, 2015). Some of these issues may be inherent to this line of work, however how police officers perceive and experience these traumatic incidences as a result of the actions of the organization to which they belong may have short-term and

long-term effects (Galatzer-Levy et al., 2013; Nanavaty, 2015). Resilience and PTG are known aspects that support mentally healthy outcomes of police officers when dealing with traumatic incidents (Blackie et al., 2017; Park et al., 2018). Programs that support police officers in processing these traumatic events are thought to prevent serious mental health issues such as posttraumatic stress disorder, anxiety, depression and eventually suicide (Klose & Mooney, 2018; Thornton & Herndon, 2016).

In this study the relationship between the Reintegration After a Critical Incident program implemented by the Edmonton Police Service, resilience, and PTG of police officers within the framework of cognitive mental health was examined. Effective cognitive functioning within police officers requires the ability to have received, processed and then responded to information in intense, sometimes life-threatening situations (Taylor, 1988; Violanti et al., 2018). This cognitive functioning is key in the execution of police officers' duties supporting community safety, organizational liability and the ability to function effectively as a team member in a high-pressured environment (Violanti et al., 2018). Mental health issues may impede and interfere with this cognitive functioning and trauma is a known contributing factor to increasing serious mental health issues in police officers. Munoz et al. (2017) found that perceived control and hope were key aspects from a cognitive perspective which were interchangeably related to self-efficacy in the experience of resilience and PTG. All aspects have played a role in the perception, processing and translation of the traumatic experiences these police officers were exposed to throughout their career, (Violanti, 2006; Weltman et al., 2014).

When considering the resources available to police officers involved in critical incidents which were used interchangeably with the term traumatic events, there appeared to be few that are mandatory and that supported the police officer in relation to that incident. The Edmonton Police Service (EPS)

have further developed a program called Reintegration After Critical Incident or Long-Term Leave. In this study Reintegration After Critical Incident was explored, purporting both preventative and subsequent qualities for its police officers related to mental health (Klose & Mooney, 2018). The goal of the program is to return members to work with a sense of normalcy after having experienced an impactful incident (Klose & Mooney, 2018). Prevention of anxiety, depression and posttraumatic stress injury are included in the program while granting a reintegration component to ease transition from the critical incident back into the throws of front-line policing without adding further injury (Klose & Mooney, 2018). There did not appear to be any studies that had explored the relationship between the Reintegration After Critical Incident program, resilience and PTG.

For this study, traumatic events and critical incidents were used interchangeably and included critical incidents and/or line of duty shootings, but did not include the euthanasia of animals. It was clear that traumatic events involved a multitude of experiences defined by the police officer involved in those personally defined incidents. In limiting those to critical incidents and/or line of duty shootings, this allowed me to more effectively identify two aspects. This first aspect was the main part of the study, being whether a statistically significant relationship existed between the Reintegration After Critical Incident program, resilience and PTG. The second aspect was its impact, if any on those police officers involved in the critical incident and/or line of duty shooting.

In this chapter, literature search strategy as well as theoretical frameworks used to support the research were discussed. Literature involving the impact of traumatic experiences on police officers in relation to resilience and PTG, as well as the impact of organizational culture on the processing of traumatic events were examined. The relationship mandatory programming has in the processing of those cognitive events, resilience and post traumatic growth were also reviewed.

Literature Search Strategy

This comprehensive literature search began with a thorough and complete exploration of Walden University's library database through Thoreau and narrowed the scope to the psychological and criminal justice, including PsycINFO, PsycARTICLES, SAGE, Criminal Justice, ProQuest, and Science Direct. Other databases explored were Emerald Management and Taylor & Francis databases. A search of journal articles and other data using various search engines such as Google Scholar and Google, exploring concepts of police and PTSD/OSI, traumatic incidents, resilience, PTG, statistics and theoretical concepts of cognitive adaptation theory, resilience theory, and social cognitive theory were conducted. Initial parameters of the intended literature saturation consisted of the years 2013 to 2020 with the goal of obtaining current research. These parameters were then expanded to include a more comprehensive search from 1970 to 2013 to ensure foundational and theoretical literature was explored.

An overall Thoreau search began the literature review exploration with the terms *law* enforcement OR police AND exposure therapy AND peers AND shooting OR line of duty OR life-threatening to encapsulate the topic in its most general terms revealing a considerable number of results, 165768, requiring it to be narrowed down through customizing the dates of 2013-2019 and peer reviewed only. Google Scholar was explored several times however mostly with the terms *law* enforcement OR police AND exposure therapy AND peers AND shooting OR line of duty OR life-threatening with a customized date range of 2013-2019, peer reviewed yielding 581 results.

Terms used initially in PsycINFO were *law enforcement* OR *police* AND *PTSD* OR *resilience* OR *PTG*, which yielded 237 results when customized with the dates 2013-2019 and peer reviewed.

Other search terms used within PsycINFO were *law enforcement* OR *police* AND *resilience* OR *resiliency* yielding 114 results when customized with the dates of 2013-2020 and peer reviewed.

PsycARTICLE when searched with the terms *law enforcement* OR *police* AND *resilience* OR *PTG* within the parameters of peer reviewed and customized dates of 2013-2020 yielded only 3 articles.

Databases such as Criminal Justice and Proquest were used to conduct this literature search using multiple combinations of wording such as *law enforcement* OR *police* AND *resilience* OR *PTSD* OR *PTG*, a customized date range of 2013-2019 in order to ensure current research and peer reviewed resulting in 252 articles. Variations of key terms used were inserted in both the Criminal Justice and ProQuest databases initiating further searches with new key terms such as *predictors mental health stigma* AND *law enforcement* OR *police* with a customized date range of 2013-2019 and peer reviewed yielded 183 results

In the multitude of key terms used throughout the literature search theoretical possibilities such as *adaptation cognitive theory* in PsycINFO with a more extensive customized date range of 1970- 2019 yielded 78 results and provided another theory to consider, *social cognitive theory* that substantiated the preceding literature analysis and review. Substantial use of the terms *resilience*, *resiliency*, *PTG* AND *law enforcement* OR *police* were also used in the various databases mentioned above.

The literature acquired in this extensive search provided further theories such as resilience theory and social cognitive theory that were originally not considered in the foundation of this study. Culture within the realm of policing prompted wording such as *stigma*, *culture* AND *police* OR *law enforcement*.

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical foundation for this study includes cognitive adaptation theory, self-efficacy theory, and resiliency theory. While there are many other valuable and completely applicable theories, the cognitive

framework was found to be most applicable as cognition is what is used to both develop and apply posttraumatic growth and resilience.

Resiliency Theory

Resiliency theoretical framework involves three constructs which include protective, risk and vulnerability factors each with their own definitions (Bolton et al., 2017). This theory's primary function is to provide a foundation through which the processing of adverse circumstances can be evaluated from an adaptive perspective (Bolton et al., 2017). The interaction of the three constructs along with the four distinct phases within resilience theory of: (a) confrontation of risk factors (exposure to traumatic incidents), (b) activation of protective factors (implementation of mandatory programming/supportive working environment), (c) interaction of protective factors (effects of mandatory programming/supportive working environment), and (d) possible outcomes (reduced likelihood of developing PTSD) are the basis through which this research is being conducted (Bolton et al., 2017).

Resiliency theory was applied with a complex definition involving not only the adaptability of the police officer but the adaptability of the police officer within the socioecological culture that police officer is functioning within (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2013) that had to be considered especially within this potentially culturally sensitive study. Fletcher and Sarkar (2013) argued, in defining resilience, the culture within which the term was being considered, was key. For instance, in this study, resilience is related to the ability of police officers to work through mental health issues that ensued as a result of traumatic incidents and their ability to negate serious outcomes of PTSD or OSI. Considering the cultural aspects of policing whether it be occupational or organizational as previously described by Cordner (2017) was instrumental in defining, from a theoretical perspective, resilience (Fletcher &

Sarkar, 2013). Campbell-Sills and Stein (2007) provided a definition of resilience with two constant factors with the context of their definition of positive adaptation within adversity or in this study, what would be considered traumatic circumstances and those were hardiness and persistence. In policing, hardiness and persistence were deemed necessary factors for being effective in the execution of duties as well as in cognitively processing their experience from a mentally healthy perspective (Campbell-Sills & Stein, 2007; Fletcher & Sarkar, 2013). Paton et al. (2008) developed a theory on resiliency specific to police officers based on the ability to create meaning from traumatic events/experiences into meaningful, coherent and manageable events as a result of the police officer themselves, their organizational constructs and the platoon/team they work within. This theory postulated resilience was a combination of these aspects (Paton et al., 2008). Programming such as Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting may have enhanced resilience by valuing police officers within the organization through the provision of this program, creating a favorable, supportive culture and providing mental health care that specialized in the cognitive processing of the event (Evans et al., 2013; Klose & Mooney, 2018; Paton et al., 2008). This theory was supported regardless of whether resilience was defined as a trait or a process (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2013; Paton et al., 2008).

Self-Efficacy Theory

The theory of self-efficacy as postulated by Bandura (1977) was found to be interlaced with theoretical approaches involving resilience (Paton et al., 2008) and cognitive adaptation (Taylor, 1983) so it will be explored in tandem. Self-efficacy is defined by Bandura (1977) as one's belief in one's ability to organize and execute ways of doing things in order to attain particular goals. While Bandura (1977) postulated being self-efficacious was derived from personal/professional accomplishments,

vicarious experiences, physiological conditions and persuasion, he also believed the cognitive processing of those aspects was key to the outcome of high self-efficacy or low self-efficacy.

Cognitive Adaptation Theory

Taylor (1983) defined cognitive adaptation as the ability to process events that may have been negative or traumatic into meaningful experiences which incorporated three themes that were fundamental. Those themes included searching for meanings in the experience, the opportunity to regain mastery over one's life, and the building of one's self-esteem through training and other bettering of oneself (Taylor, 1983). The theory of cognitive adaptation overlaps with the theory of self-efficacy in that each construct requires the other to sustain a positive outcome. For example, in order to have experienced mastery over one's life and/or to self-enhance it would be plausible they would have had higher self-efficacy, the belief they could have achieved this (Bandura, 1977).

All three theories overlap in concept and are required for each concept to be achieved.

Resilience theory, which postulates that the ability to create meaningful, coherent, and manageable experiences from police officers' traumatic events would have required those police officers to first be able to have had an adaptive method of cognitively processing the experiences (Paton et al., 2008; Taylor, 1983). In order to have been successful in processing the traumatic events from a negative to a positive through cognitive adaptation, the police officers, it is suggested, likely had higher levels of self-efficacy throughout their processing (Bandura, 1977; Taylor, 1988). Therefore, in order to have created an environment organizationally, team-wise and personally that induced high levels of resilience, programming such as Reintegration After Critical Incident provides its police officers with an environment that fosters positive cognitive adaption. It may also provide favorable circumstances of further training in support of the enhancement of self-efficacy construct (Bandura, 1977; Paton et al,

2008; Taylor, 1983). Having encapsulated the theories of cognitive adaptation, self-efficacy, and resiliency as a foundation through which Reintegration After Critical Incident may support police officers after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting in reframing their traumatic experience, may provide police officers the sense of being valued as members within their organization, promoting and furthering existing resilience and posttraumatic growth (Evans et al., 2013; Galatzer-Levy et al., 2014).

Literature Review

Traumatic Event Exposure

Traumatic event in this study is defined in two parts. The first part is what is generally considered a traumatic event in policing which is defined as an incident that, through the perception of the police officer is life-threatening, potentially life-threatening, and/or sexual violence according to American Psychological Association (2013). In this study, the traumatic event or critical incident uses the above definition and includes the involvement in any way of a line of duty shooting that does not include the euthanasia of an animal (Klose & Mooney, 2018). A general definition of traumatic incident was used in order to relate the mental health issues that may result through frequent exposure (Carleton et al., 2019).

There is no question, frequent exposure to critical incidents promotes the likelihood of posttraumatic symptoms in those police officers involved including the adrenalin-producing highs and lows as a result of the incidents police officers attend (Chopko et al., 2018). These exposures take a toll both physically and psychologically on them making them vulnerable to mental health issues (Chopko et al., 2018). However, after examining risk and protective factors, it was found that quality and depth of training as well as available resources supported predictions of a PTSD diagnosis according to Marchand et al. (2015). The availability of resources is another factor to be considered in the response

to traumatic event exposure experienced by police officers (Galatzer-Levy et al., 2013). Resource availability may be dependent on staffing, financial feasibility, and a number of other organizational factors however in the province of Ontario, Canada, a mandate for providing preventative mental health resources is in place for all policing organizations as the need to support mental health is recognized (Coroner's Inquest Police Suicide, 2019). This mandate is in effect as a result of the important role resources play on both preventative and reactive issues traumatic incidents have on police officers (Carleton et al., 2019).

Police sub-culture plays a significant role in the processing of traumatic events from how the officers perceive their experience to how the organization manages their members after the incident (Karaffa & Koch, 2016). Literature related to police culture was explored and discussed in further depth as its own entity as perception may be found to be key in most if not all aspects of this study however it was noted to have been a key factor in the perception of how those the traumatic incidents are managed by both the organization and the police officer (Cordner, 2017; Galatzer-Levy, 2013).

Other preventative factors that are believed might mitigate risk such as perceived social support and personal hardiness are found not to have any significant impact on the development of PTSD (Marchand et al., 2015), whereas Martin et al. (2009) did find significance in factors such as social support, personality trait of hardiness, and related coping mechanisms. Social support through peer support included in some resources for police officers can be key in providing a link from receiving and accepting available resources to minimizing cultural effects experienced in a policing environment (Van Hasselt et al., 2019). Resources delivered through peers are much more likely to be accepted and received (Van Hasselt et al., 2019). Preventative factors of developing PTSD and other mental health issues are identified as resilience, satisfaction with life, gratitude, as a result of a study done on

posttraumatic stress symptoms' scores related to those aforementioned factors by McCanlies et al. (2014). Posttraumatic growth has not been found to have any significant relationship with posttraumatic stress symptoms (PTSS) in this study (McCanlies et al., 2014). However, studies have found that scores resulting from PTSD or PTSS have more in-depth complexity and are not necessarily related to the amount of trauma experienced (McCanlies et al., 2014). Further to this, resources available after experienced trauma may speak to the value the organization places on their police officers' traumatic experiences and their related mental health post-experience (Carleton et al., 2019). Marchand et al. (2015) explained the narrow scope of incidents may have had an impact on the lack of significance in relationship with PTSS and PTG which would support results from Chopko et al. (2018) study's findings that the type of traumatic exposure, direct or indirect would impact this relationship.

Resilience

The definition of resilience in this study by Fletcher and Sakar (2013) is the ability to bounce back in the face of adversity. Resilience involves an ability to see the positive aspects in an experience that normally would not be obvious to most people (Fletcher & Sakar, 2013). Resilience has been found to play an integral part in the cognitive resolution of processing traumatic events as well as in self-efficacy (Sollie, Kop, & Euwema, 2017). For example, researchers have found that resilience may determine whether an individual is able to evolve from a critical incident with their mental health intact or whether they develop an operational stress injury as a result, with emotion regulation being key to that evolution (McCraty & Atkinson, 2012; Papazoglou & Andersen, 2014). Resilience has been found to be a powerful coping mechanism for police officers dealing with trauma (Violanti et al., 2018). Resources can also be part of the supportive development of resilience in police officers when resources are available that, through a peer delivery may dissolve the stigma found in the cultural make-up in the

world of policing (Campeau, 2015; McCanlies et al., 2014; Sollie et al., 2017). While mindfulness practices were found to be a strong contributor in developing resilience in helpers, being engaged in a reintegration process that provides an opportunity to explore the experience through exposure therapeutic methods delivered by trusted peers was found to be especially effective as a protective factor related to developing serious mental health issues (Foureur et al., 2013; Klose & Mooney, 2018). Exposure to traumatic incidents, cultural stigma, pre-existing mental health issues, and resources available through the organization in which the police officer worked all may factor into the depth and opportunity for the development and application of resilience when dealing those traumatic events (Karrafa & Koch, 2016; Klose & Mooney, 2018).

Programs that support the development of resilience have been found to reduce psychological and physiological impairment in relation to health (McCanlies et al., 2014; Weltman, Lamon, Freedy & Chartrand, 2014). However, it is not clear whether it is the program that supports the development of resilience or the participants who are willing to engage in the study and therefore may have been predisposed to a positive disposition or the feeling of being valued by their organization that contributes to the development of resilience (Galatzer-Levy et al., 2014; McCanlies et al., 2014).

Implementation of such resources organizationally may be challenging according to Sollie et al., (2017) from an administrative perspective as well as from a cultural perspective related to the stigma policing organizations experience (Cordner, 2017; Karrafa & Koch, 2016; Klose & Mooney, 2018). The culture in policing, which is arguably occupational or organizational, may have an impact on the ease and acceptability of the programming. While Cordner (2017) argues culture was found to be organizational and many times positive as well as constructive, others such as Campeau (2015) found culture to be occupational and existing in all policing organizations. As a result of resistance possibly

due to cultural beliefs, few organizations are able to access such resources and if they had something similar, they often lack the full therapeutic experience of exposure therapy which render it less effective in its implementation (Klose & Moony, 2018).

Resilience is instrumental and has been found to be statistically related to sound mental health, positivity and happiness within the work and professional lives of police officers (McCanlies et al., 2014). It could be argued programming promoting resilience as an essential construct within policing organizations is not only important, it is crucial in ensuring the maintenance of police officer absenteeism, professional productivity and organizational liability. Having an understanding of the relationship between Reintegration After Critical Incident programming as an example of programming in general and resilience is an important gap to fill from a research perspective.

Posttraumatic Growth

Posttraumatic growth is defined as positive psychological growth after a perceived traumatic experience and/or stressful life event (Leppma et al., 2018). The role of posttraumatic growth in mental health comes from the ability to transform what might originally be considered negatively experienced information into positive, constructive information (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). The optimal opportunity for this type of growth is through moderate stress (Leppma et al., 2018); however, Wolter et al. (2018) argued that in policing, traumatic experiences often occur in a high stress environment. Key pieces of information on how one transforms a stressful, potentially negative experience, into one of gratitude and appreciation from lessons learned, can be categorized by the body's ability to balance out the nervous system while regulating emotion, social supports available to them during and after the traumatic event, and the cognitive ability to have processed the learning experience into a life lesson (Leppma et al., 2018).

Tedeschi and Calhoun (2004) reviewed the history of what was called posttraumatic growth which included the fact this phenomenon had existed since the beginning of time with life lessons learned and a greater overall appreciation of life as a result of a traumatic experience. Although Blackie et al. (2017) reiterated the transformative effect posttraumatic growth had, they emphasized the confinement to the traits incorporated within this construct were not exclusive to posttraumatic growth. However posttraumatic growth was experienced and synonymously defined, it impacted relationships, personal strengths and the ability to identify new opportunities in life in a positive way, subsequently reducing the likelihood of developing a serious mental health disorder (Blackie et al., 2017). Chopko et al. (2018) explained how the likelihood of developing posttraumatic growth as a result of the traumatic experience producing PTSS was greater if the experience involved a threat to the self rather than to others, which in this study, are conceivably likely as critical incidents and/or line of duty shootings, are the experiences that were explored. Further, Chopko et al. (2018) stated that the role of the police officer as helper within their job description may support the evolution of posttraumatic growth as a rewarding aspect of their career. Finally, prevention of mental health issues and suicide in police personnel have been found to be the buffers of resiliency and posttraumatic growth provided (Chae & Boyle, 2013).

Effects of Police Organizational Culture

Police culture is, debatably, organizationally created or occupationally derived or is it?

Regardless of the root derivative of "police culture", there is an understanding its effects on how police officers process and act on their experiences throughout their career is powerful (Campeau, 2015; Cordner, 2017). Police culture, defined by Campeau (2015) as a set of values, behaviors, and core characteristics attributed to the occupation of policing, implies the success or failure of certain

programming may have been the result of the approach of the programming's implementation.

Depending how one approaches the delivery of programming, police culture may be attributed to the willingness of police officers to have engaged with the programming or not (Campeau, 2015; Cordner, 2017).

The debate in the literature relates to the subject of the effectiveness of programming within police culture is, if culture is deemed to be occupationally driven or organizationally driven (Cordner, 2017). While one study explored the adaptive framework from which the culture in policing may have been conceptualized, the other study explored the origination of its development. This is key in understanding the relationship between who delivers programming, such as peers or mental health providers external to the organization and the reception of the program delivered (Campeau, 2015; Cordner, 2017). Reintegration After Critical Incident within the Edmonton Police Service is delivered by peers, carefully selected, organizational-wide trusted, sworn members, who are trained in exposure therapy along with their training in policing (Klose & Mooney, 2018). Depending on the culture within the organization, the development of such a program and possibly unit, may dictate the receptiveness of the program and therefore the opportunity for attaining increased resilience and/or PTG (Cordner, 2017). Rose and Unnithan's (2015) study found little research had been done in relation to stressors and the police officer's experience of being part of the culture or not. They argued as long as the police officers perceived themselves as being part of the "group" from a cultural perspective, the culture itself had a powerful impact on supporting mental health or not (Rose & Unnithan, 2015). Having this understanding is important in respecting the role culture might have in the effective delivery of programming such as Reintegration After Critical Incident and the intended results of resilience and

PTG (Rose & Unnithan, 2015). However, having an understanding of the origin of organizational culture is another key piece.

The question of, is culture derived from the organization or the occupation of policing may have an impact on the way in which programming is implemented from both positive and negative perspective (Campeau, 2015; Cordner, 2017). Campeau (2015) explained how the tendency for police officers to react from a place of personal training and experiences was the sociological way in which culture was analyzed, which supported a more current and open perspective. This view supported Cordner's (2017) perspective of how police culture is based organizationally rather than occupationally for the most part as, how the organization recruits, trains and leads their members might reflect the perceptive culture. If both suppositions are considered, Reintegration After Critical Incident programming may be effective depending on the organization's methods of implementation from the selection of those members delivering the programming to the method in which it is delivered (Campeau, 2015; Cordner, 2017; Klose & Mooney, 2018). This is important to consider as culture may have an impact on resilience and PTG scores both individually and organizationally (Campeau, 2015; Cordner, 2017). Galatzer-Levy et al. (2013) explained the impact of feeling valued by the organization in which the police officers are working for may be related to the lens through which positive or negative experiences were perceived. Cordner (2017) found in their study, most police culture was positively associated with experience and related to the adaptive framework. As a result, Campeau (2015) would suggest the effective implementation of a program such as Reintegration After Critical Incident to support police after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting would likely have promoted both resilience and PTG (Galatzer-Levy et al., 2013; Klose & Mooney, 2018). Galatzer-Levy et al. (2013) suggested however, implementation of any programming geared towards their benefit was a form of demonstration of the organization "valuing" their police officers. While culture appears to have had an influence on the reception of programming and the wellbeing of police officers, that wellbeing may be generalized to the concepts of resilience and PTG. It is understood culture, although still undetermined as to whether it is occupational or organizational, may have had an impact on resilience and PTG beyond available programming.

Mandatory Programming

Mandatory programming in this study is defined as programming that must be attended by police officers that fall into a certain category, in this case having been involved in a line of duty shooting, certain critical incidents and/or other organizationally defined parameters. Mandatory programming provides police officers the opportunity for support without the perceived stigma from peers that is prevalent in policing organizations (Karrafa & Koch, 2016; Klose & Mooney, 2018). There is no room for self-assessment, the typical dressing room conversation, "are you ok?" responded with "yes of course I am fine" as identified by McCraty and Atkinson (2012), as this was how tragic endings of self-harm and even suicide come about. With mandatory programming the decision to attend is taken away and ensured the care, needed or not, is provided (Klose & Mooney, 2018).

Programming implemented in policing organizations has in the very least, the goal of managing mental health through mitigating and minimizing operational stress injury as provided in the study by McCraty and Atkinson (2012) and their The Coherence Advantage Stress Resilience and Performance Enhancement Program. Carleton et al. (2018) provided an example of how programming, depending on its duration and depth of training, may or may not have increased positive mental health care amongst police officers with the Road 2 Mental Readiness Program. Each program has its objective and as such,

should be based on academic research confirming its effectiveness in fulfilling those objectives through evidence-based methods prior to be being delivered by policing organizations.

The Reintegration After Critical Incident program provides an extensive, in-depth exploration of the traumatic experience through exposure therapy as well as other applicable processes that aspires to reintegrate the police officer back into the workplace feeling confident in their ability and decision-making should they need to use their skills and/or firearm in another incident or be faced with future traumatic incidents that are similar (Klose & Mooney, 2018).

This literature began with an analysis of program components and compared them with their projected goals of prevention of PTSD and operational stress injury (OSI) as well as identified relationships between resilience and posttraumatic growth through a cognitive adaptation theory, resilience lens which incorporated aspects of social cognitive theory. This study then concluded with a section on mental health, culture, resilience and PTG within police programming Reintegration After Critical Incident.

In the beginning this study postulated that providing programming such as Reintegration After Critical Incident supported the feeling of being valued by your organization and more importantly your peers, which reduced the likelihood of developing PTSD or another OSI according to Evans, Pistrang and Billings (2013). Organizations, on the assumption there was support for their members, provided opportunities for the development of PTG and resilience (Evans, Pistrang & Billings, 2013). Social support for the mental health issues incurred on the job was another form of resiliency organizations could have offered to lessen the opportunity their members would develop PTSD or other serious OSIs (Bandura, 2001).

Mandatory programming of this type provided mental health training with a skillset the member may not have had the opportunity to learn that would last throughout their career as well as reduced the statistical risk of burnout as a result of mental health issues (Kelty & Gordon, 2015). Support from the Executive Command Team (ECT) is key in implementing effectively as the leaders of the organization showing buy-in with mandatory attendance provides that message (Smykla, Crow, Crichlow & Snyder, 2016).

Reintegration After Critical Incident provides that social support, a key piece in promoting posttraumatic growth through the normalization of emotions that may result in the critical incident and/or shooting the police officer may experience, as well as providing an underlying message of worth the member has within the organization through the delivery of this program (Klose & Mooney, 2018).

Challenges and issues of implementing programming effectively as a result of police culture and how Reintegration After Critical Incident programming supports this culture by requiring mandatory attendance after certain critical incidents and/or line of duty shootings. When delivered by carefully selected peers trained in firearms, exposure therapy and CISM, effective delivery is most likely to be received (Waters & Ussery, 2007).

Summary and Conclusions

The literature review notes key areas of research which include the effects of apparently unavoidable traumatic events had on police officers to the constructs that support sound mental health. It appears resilience and PTG are key aspects present in police officers who have good mental health, that demonstrate less likely to present with more serious mental health issues such as PTSD, major depression, anxiety and OSI. The goal of mandatory programming such as Reintegration After Critical Incident is to provide police officers with the opportunity to build resilience, transform their traumatic

experience of the line of duty shooting into a meaningful, coherent event through which further training could be administered enhancing self-efficacy through cognitive adaptation. PTG was another construct programming intended to provide.

Understanding through the theoretical lenses of resilience specified for police officers (Paton et al., 2008), Bandura's (1977) self-efficacy theory and Taylor's (1983) cognitive adaptation theory, their role in the implementation of programming such as Reintegration After Critical Incident, its value and importance in the mental health of police officers is key. Although there are a multitude of viewpoints expressed and noted in this review, the literature demonstrates the value of the implementation of such programming which may be instrumental in the results of resilience and PTG provided for police officers involved in critical incidents and/or line of duty shootings.

There is no seminary literature that was able to be located based specifically on the relationship between critical incidents and/or line of duty shootings, mandatory programming, resilience and PTG, however efforts will be made to continue to search for material that may have explored this phenomenon. Supporting police officers in attaining and maintaining wellness from a mental health perspective is shown to be key in living a quality life and reducing the likelihood of the worst-case scenario, suicide. Programming such as Reintegration After Critical Incident may play a large part in preventing serious mental health issues for those police officers who have access to Reintegration After Critical Incident compared to those police officers who do not. This gap in research compels me to explore the importance and necessity of mandatory programming for our police officers. Reducing the negative effects of the unavoidable aspects of police work by supporting police officers in furthering their resilience, self-efficacy and developing their ability to infuse meaning into their experience is key

in Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. Much research remains as there appears to be many more gaps in the small gap this study explores.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Police officers are exposed to traumatic incidents throughout the duration of their careers and as a result they may experience mild to severe mental health issues (Chopko et al., 2018). Research have found a relationship between resilience and PTG on the processing of those traumatic events (Chopko et al., 2018), which also plays a role in maintaining sound mental health (Leppma et al., 2018). Various programming is implemented on an organizational basis and may play a role in how those traumatic events are processed and their effectiveness relevant to mental health outcomes (Klose & Mooney, 2018).

The purpose of this study was to explore the relationship between programming, namely Reintegration After Critical Incident, after critical incidents and/or a line of duty shooting and resilience and PTG in Canadian police officers. Specifically, the desired outcome of the study was to examine, through statistical analysis, whether there was a statistically significant difference in resilience and/or PTG after critical incidents and/or line of duty shootings in police officers who attended Reintegration After Critical Incident programming and police officers who did not attend Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. Although research has been conducted on the effects of attending traumatic incidents in policing, none has explored the relationship between Reintegration After Critical Incident programming relevant to resilience and PTG in police officers.

This chapter will review the research design and rationale of the study, the methodology including population, sampling and sampling procedures, recruitment participation, data collection, instrumentation, threats to validity, and the ethical procedures that were used throughout this study.

Research Design and Rationale

This study identified whether Canadian police officers who have been involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting who have gone through programming, specifically Reintegration After Critical Incident, showed greater scores on the CD-RISC and separately, greater scores on the PTGI-SF than police officers who have not gone through Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. The independent variable in this study was whether police officers received Reintegration After Critical Incident programming after their critical incident and/or line of duty shooting or whether they did not receive Reintegration After Critical Incident programming after experiencing their critical incident and/or line of duty shooting. The dependent variables were the levels of resilience and PTG measured on the instrumentation selected, the CD-RISC and the PTGI-SF. The CD-RISC was used to measure resilience, which is defined as the ability to excel in adverse situations, measuring as high or low, within police officers who have been exposed to adverse/traumatic situations (Campbell-Sills & Stein, 2007). PTG was measured by the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory-Short Form (PTGI-SF) Scale (Arpawong et al., 2016; Campbell-Sills & Stein, 2007). This 10-item scale measures personal growth after traumatic incidents and/or adverse circumstances such as any critical incident and/or line of duty shooting (Cann et al., 2013).

A comparative research design was used to ascertain whether a statistical significance exists in resilience and PTG scores between police officers who have been involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting who received Reintegration After Critical Incident programming and those police officers who have been involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting who did not received Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. The purpose for selecting this research design was to ascertain from a statistical perspective whether there is a relationship between programming,

specifically Reintegration After Critical Incident and Canadian police officers' levels of resilience and PTG separately measured. This study may be used to inform an existing gap in how programming may affect police officers who have experienced a traumatic incident such as a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting, resilience and PTG.

Methodology

According to Statistics Canada there are 68562 active police officers in Canada as of 2018 (Conor, Robson & Ellis, 2018). Of those 68562 police officers, some work in rural, urban and suburban communities under the Royal Mounted Canadian Police, while others work in Canadian municipal, regional and provincial police services in urban, suburban and rural settings. This study sampled from this identified population, those police officers who have been involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting.

Population

According to Statistics Canada there are 68562 active police officers in Canada as of 2018 (Conor et al., 2018). Of those 68562 police officers, some work in rural, urban and suburban communities under the Royal Mounted Canadian Police, while others work in Canadian municipal, regional and provincial police services in urban, suburban and rural settings. This study sampled from this identified population, those police officers who have been involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

Sampling of the population included active, Canadian police officers who will be identified as having been involved in a line of duty shooting. As a result of this limited population and the necessary

parameters, participants may be a limited resource. This will include going through policing organizations known to provide Reintegration After Critical Incident programming as well as those policing organizations who do not. Each organization will be contacted through their Executive Command Team, their heads of Peer Support units and possibly their Human Resources (HR). Police officers having been involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting were invited to participate through interoffice letter of invitation and/or email. The Peer Support unit or HR departments was contacted in various policing organizations in Canada that allowed participation in this study, to send out the general information gathering survey, the CD-RISC survey and the PTGI-SF survey through Survey Monkey. Nonidentifying, demographic information such as age, length of service and confirmation of involvement in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting was collected. The definition of "line of duty shooting" for this study was provided in the survey.

A G*Power analysis was conducted and using a post-hoc power of analysis should both groups be different in size using an effect size of .5 with a power .80, the calculated minimal sample size of the population had to be 145. If both groups are equal, using a priori: compute required sample size - given a, with the same statistical parameters regarding effect size and power of .80, the calculated minimal sample size of the population had to be 128.

As a result of this analysis, the sampling procedure involved identifying police officers who had been involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting anonymously, through units of an undetermined number of Canadian policing organizations known to implement Reintegration After Critical Incident programming and known not to implement Reintegration After Critical Incident programming.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Recruiting the population for this study required me to go through policing organizations' Executive Command initially and then through their Peer Support Unit (PSU) and/or their HR. The initial letter of invitation was emailed out along with the consent form to those organizations who agreed to participate with a detailed description of the parameter of the study, along with instructions, a description of confidentiality procedures that were to take place and their willingness, or not to participate in this study. Those police officers who chose to participate in this study, completed an information gathering questionnaire, providing basic, non-identifying information along with the CD-RISC and the PTGI-SF (see Appendix A). The consent form containing the SurveyMonkey link explained confidentiality to the participants and consent was implied when the link was chosen. The process was explained in detail, providing the participant the option to end their participation at any time by discontinuing in the process in any way they wished. Each participant was advised that this study was being conducted on a volunteer basis. Consent was obtained by the participants agreeing to partake in the study by clicking on the Survey Monkey link at the end of the consent form. When the survey was completed, the data were returned in a security protected email with generic numbers attached through Survey Monkey to the participating surveys in order to protect anonymity.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

CD-RISC

The CD-RISC that was developed by Connor and Davidson is comprised of 10 questions which measured levels of resiliency in individuals through the determination of their ability to thrive in situations of adversity and trauma (Gonzalez et al., 2016). Components that were measured by this measure included one's ability to cope with stress, adaptation to change, flow with life's incidents

effectively, and the ability to deal effectively with stressful emotions and not to be discouraged by instances of perceived failure (Gonzalez et al., 2015). This measure used a 5-point Likert scale with a range of not at all true (#1) to very true (#5) where participants indicated their experience of the question being asked. Example items are, "I can deal with whatever comes my way" and "I am not easily discouraged by failure" (Campbell-Sills & Stein, 2007). The participant chose their experience of how much they agreed or disagreed with the statement providing a numerical score. The scores for each question were calculated by obtaining a sum of the numbers from each question. For example, if the Questions 1-10 of the Likert-type scale yields scores of 5 throughout, the total score of the CD-RISC would be 50, a very high score showing this individual has a great tendency towards resilient processing (Gonzales et al., 2016).

The CD-RISC has been used in multiple studies using police officers as the population.

McCanlies et al., (2014) used it in their study to measure resilience amongst other measures in police officers who responded to incidents involving Hurricane Katrina in order to determine if there was a relationship between resilience and mitigating factors of PTSD. van der Werff et al. (2017) used the CD-RISC in their study that explored the relationship between brain structures and resilience in Dutch police officers. Jeong et al., (2017) found validity and reliability in their study from internal consistency, convergent validity, divergent validity, correlation with the CD-RISC as well as predictive validity with their sample which was obtained through self-reporting questionnaires in Korean first responders (Jeong et al., 2017). In relation to the psychometric properties of the CD-RISC, Gonzalez et al. (2015) study found the measure to have convergent and divergent validity with a positive and moderate correlation with positive affect as well as an inverse relation to negative affect and performance anxiety. In relation to reliability, the CD-RISC was found to have a high internal

consistency (Gonzalez et al., 2015). Permission from Connor and Davidson was requested for this study, following all copyright rules.

Completion of this measure was estimated to take approximately ten minutes and yielded an overall score for resilience.

PTGI-SF

The PTGI-SF is a 10-item measure with Likert scale type responses that focuses primarily on traumatic events that may or may not have produced an experience of growth within self-reporting individuals (Tedeshi et al., 2016). The growth that may be experienced as a result of cognitive emotional processing, according to Tedeshi and Calhoun (2004), is more likely to occur when an individual has experienced trauma when coupled with forms of psychotherapy. The Reintegration After Critical Incident program uses an exposure somewhat therapeutic approach when delivering to police officers who have been involved in some critical incidences and line of duty shootings and as a result, it was anticipated scores of PTGI-SF would be higher from members who have received Reintegration After Critical Incident programming compared to members who have not received Reintegration After Critical Incident programming (Klose & Mooney, 2018). However, PTG can occur naturally as well (Weinrib et al., 2006) and may have no relation to the implementation of Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. The statistical results, if significant, would have provided further scholarly information in this area of study.

The purpose of administering the PTGI-SF was to determine whether there was statistically significant comparative difference in scores between those police officers who have been involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting who have been followed up with Reintegration After Critical Incident programming and those police officers who have been involved in a critical incident

and/or line of duty shooting who have not followed up with Reintegration After Critical Incident programming.

Weinrib et al. (2006) explained the validity and reliability aspects of the PTGI-SF which have been measured for convergence and divergence have been shown to be valid with time between the traumatic event and PTGI measure. They did not show any statistically significant difference in selfreporting with PTGI scores and self-reporting as a response to the questionnaire did not show any statistically significant issue with self-presentation aspects. Criterion validity was found to be statistically representative in demonstrating PTGI through measured scores (Weinrib et al., 2006). As cognitive and emotional processing are known to be precursors to PTG, the statistically significant findings related to the constructs of this measure find validity in the PTGI-SF (Weinrib et al., 2006). The answers to this measure start at 0 with "I did not experience this change as a result of my crisis" to 6 with "I experienced this change to a great degree as a result of my crisis. This test uses a six-point Likert scale with a range of "not at all true" to "very true" where participants indicate their experience of sentences such as "I have changed my priorities about what is important in life" and "I have a greater feeling of self-reliance" (Tedeshi et al., 2016). The participant chooses their experience of how much they agreed or disagreed with the statement providing a numerical score with their choice. The scores for each question were calculated by obtaining a sum of the numbers from each question. For example, if the questions one through ten of the Likert-type scale yields scores of 6 throughout, the total score of the PTGI-SF would be 60, a very high score showing this individual has experienced great PTG (Gonzales et al., 2016).

Data Analysis Plan

The primary component to this study was whether there was a statistically significant difference between the scores in resilience and PTG, separately, in police officers who were involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting and participated in the Reintegration After Critical Incident program and police officers who were involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting and did not participate in the Reintegration After Critical Incident program.

1. Do police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting report higher resilience scores, as measured by the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale CD-RISC, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program?

Null Hypothesis: Police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting do not report higher resilience scores, as measured by the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program.

Alternate Hypothesis: Police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting do report higher resilience scores, as measured by the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program.

2. Do police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting report higher PTG scores, as measured by the

Post Traumatic Growth Inventory scale, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program?

Null Hypothesis: Police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting do not report higher scores on the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory scale compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program.

Alternate Hypothesis: Police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting do report higher scores on the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory scale compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program.

The statistical analyses consisted of two separate One-Way ANOVAs. The One-Way ANOVA is a one-factor experiment that involves gathering complete data with the two population samples of police officers who did attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting and those police officers did not attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting. Each population completed the CD-RISC and using the One-Way ANOVA analysis, results were calculated and the PTGI-SF using another separate One-Way ANOVA analysis to see if, these populations showed a statistically significant difference in results.

The two separate One-Way ANOVA analyses involved data collected from the surveys of the Information Gathering Questionnaire, CD-RISC and PTGI-SF through Survey Monkey and were input into SPSS software to compute the results in preparation for statistical analysis.

Threats to Validity

The greatest and most significant threat to validity were that there is no control over who has been involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting in the policing population. This aspect coupled with the number of critical incidents each police officer has attended may affect their answers on each survey therefore having an impact on their scores whether they received Reintegration After Critical Incident programming or not.

The demographics that were accessible were limited to the organizations who allowed the study to be conducted within their institutions. While some organizations may be interested in this study others may not be interested or may have already been saturated with prior studies making particulars organizations unwilling to participate. Understanding the criteria of a critical incident and/or being "involved in a line of duty shooting", which, while it was described in as much detail as possible, may have eliminated possible police officers' participation as they may not have believed they fit the criteria.

Other factors such as personal history and current life circumstances which are not within my control to include may be present and therefore affect scores accordingly.

While both the CD-RISC and the PTGI-SF provide strong internal validity as described in studies conducted with this population by Jeong et al., (2017) for the CD-RISC and Weinrib et al., (2006) for the PTGI-SF, replicating either study in relation to sample procuring is not occurring. As a result, this may have altered internal validity.

Ethical Procedures

Necessary precautions were taken following the American Psychological Association's Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct (APA, 2002) in order to ensure the anonymity of the

police officers involved in the study were protected as well as IRB standards and protocol. Permission from IRB and then through the involved organizations was obtained prior to any data gathering.

The police officers volunteered to participate in the study and were required to consent through revising a consent form with full disclosure of the intent as well as the procedure this study followed. There was no form of compensation given to those who choose to participate nor was there any repercussion should any participant have chosen to disengage at any point of the study. Participants were advised they were free to withdraw their consent at any point in time throughout the course of the study.

This study ensured that no physical or mental harm was done to the participants and the assessments were reviewed by a trained psychologist to ensure their use was ethical. The Independent Review Board (IRB) reviewed and ensured this study conformed to all ethical aspects.

The assessments that were completed by the participants and the data obtained from these assessments was used exclusively for the purpose of this study. A summary of the overall results as well as the dissertation, upon its completion were shared with the organization and were available to the participants of the study.

As well as maintaining complete anonymity of the participants and the raw data associated to them, the data was stored in password secured file on a password secured computer and the data will be destroyed five years after the completion of this dissertation. Benefit of the study may occur for the organization and the participant with the hopes of information encouraging police officers to look into beneficial programming that might increase resilience, PTG and other factors potentially protecting mental health overall.

Summary

This chapter provided a discussion on research design and rationale of the study, quantitative methodology used, population to be accessed for the study, sampling and sampling procedures on how and what is necessary to ensure the study provides statistically significant results, my procedures for recruitment of the population, data analysis, threats to validity, both external and internal as well as the ethical process of this study. Police officers having been involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting were invited to complete three surveys. The first was the collection of generic, demographic, non-identifying information, then the CD-RISC and finally the PTGI-SF, with no threat to any repercussion should they choose to discontinue at any time and were provided access to mental health resources should they be required as a result of the completion of the surveys. Discussion on the strict, ethical approach on the administration of this study was discussed as well as various threats of validity that will be considered once data is collected, submitted into SPSS and analyzed.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this study was to examine the effects of reintegration programming, specifically Edmonton Police Service's Reintegration After Critical Incident programming on resilience scores and post traumatic growth inventory scores of police officers who have been involved in a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting. The participants completed an information gathering questionnaire, the CD-RISC and the PTGI. The participants were divided into two groups; participants who participated in Reintegration After Critical Incident programming after their critical incident and/or line of duty shooting, "Yes" and participants who did not participate in Reintegration After Critical Incident programming, "No". In this chapter, results generated from the statistical analysis conducted will be presented relative to the research questions posed.

This quantitative study was designed to answer each of the following research questions:

RQ1: Do police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting report higher resilience scores, as measured by the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale CD-RISC, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program?

 H_01 : Police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting do not report higher resilience scores, as measured by the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program.

 H_a 1: Police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting do report higher resilience scores, as

measured by the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program.

RQ2: Do police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After

Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting report higher PTG scores, as measured by the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory scale, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program?

 H_02 : Police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting do not report higher scores on the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory scale compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program.

 H_a 2: Police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting do report higher scores on the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory scale compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program.

Data Collection

Data collection began with permission granted to use Survey Monkey to collect the participants responses for the study. Instrumentation in this study included an information gathering questionnaire, the CD-RISC questionnaire and the PTGI questionnaire presented in English. After receiving IRB approval (06-05-20-0746695) various Canadian policing organizations were contacted via email and invited to have their members participate in this study. Six policing organizations agreed to participate and disseminated the invitation to participate and consent forms via inter-office posting to their sworn members to ensure anonymity was maintained. Those police officers choosing to participate were

invited to complete the survey which was comprised of 66 questions. This data collection process took four months and a total of 12 policing organizations were contacted. Of those 12, six policing organizations agreed to participate.

From the six policing organizations, 280 participants responded and of those 280 participants, 252 participants completed the questionnaire in its entirety. There were 28 participants who did not complete the survey and these results were eliminated from the analysis. The minimum number of participants needed was 128 if the samples were equal and 144 if the samples were not equal. Equality in samples refers to the dependent variable of whether the participants received Reintegration After Critical Incident programming or not. Out of the 252 participants, 35 answered they participated in Reintegration After Critical Incident programming, one of which did not experience a critical and/or traumatic incident, leaving the "Yes" sample with 34. There were 213 who answered they did not participate in Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. The sample that did not participate in Reintegration After Critical Incident programming ("No" group) was further reduced to those involved in a line of duty shooting as most of the "Yes" group had been involved in a line of duty shooting. This sample was reduced to 67 of which a random sample of 34 was created, making both "Yes" and "No" sample groups equal in size. Each survey contained an information gathering questionnaire, the CD-RISC and the PTGI and the link to the survey after reviewing consent. The accessed link was deemed to be consent.

Sample

Although 252 participants participated and completed the survey out of the six participating organizations, only two of those organizations have the Reintegration After Critical Incident program and one of those two organizations implemented the program one year ago. This limits not only the

opportunity to gather data from those who have experienced this program, it also limits any opportunity of reaching the number of participants to satisfy the G Power for a balanced study. The large sample of participants who did not have the Reintegration After Critical Incident program administered after their critical incident and/or line of duty shooting where reduced by criteria that were similar to those few (34) who did have the Reintegration After Critical Incident program administered after their critical incident and/or line of duty shooting. There were 11 who were involved directly and deemed themselves as the shooter in the incident. One of the criteria that was filtered in was the line of duty shooting, directly involved (67) where the participants deemed themselves the shooter (29). All but four of the 35 who answered yes were involved in a line of duty shooting. Therefore, the critical incident only component was eliminated from the "No" data sample used in the analysis. Those participants who answered "No" to whether their experience was traumatic were also removed as 29 out of the 35 "Yes" participants stated their experience was traumatic with one that did not identify their incident as a critical incident, removed from the "Yes" sample as this aspect was a main criterion for this study.

Study Results

Some policing organizations have begun to offer Reintegration After Critical Incident programming to their members after a line of duty shooting and/or critical incident. This study's aim was to determine whether a statistically significant difference in CD-RISC scores and PTGI scores, separately, existed between those who received the programming after their critical incident and those who did not receive the programming after their critical incident. In the samples used for this comparative analysis, 56 males, 11 females and one participant who preferred not to select gender were included.

Two separate One-Way between-subjects ANOVA comparative analyses were executed using CD-RISC scores and PTGI scores as the independent variables for each research question and Reintegration After Critical Incident programming used as the dependent variable. Confidence intervals criteria were set at 95%. The mean score for the CD-RISC was 77.47 for the "Yes" group and 72.26 for the "No" group. The output from the analysis produced a significant score for the CD-RISC of .020 suggesting there is statistical significance in the relationship between resilience scores and Reintegration After Critical Incident programming after a critical incident/line of duty shooting. The mean score for the PTGI was 28.26 for the "Yes" group and 20.44 for the "No" group. The output analysis produced a lack of statistical significance score for the PTGI of .134 suggesting there is no significantly statistical relationship between PTG and Reintegration After Critical Incident programming after a critical incident/line of duty shooting. While most of the CD-RISC part of the surveys were completed, the PTGI part of the surveys were either incomplete or no to very little PTG was experienced by the participant.

Research Question 1

Do police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting report higher resilience scores, as measured by the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale CD-RISC, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program? The method of data analysis determined was the One-Way ANOVA. A test of Homogeneity of Variances found equality across comparison groups. The independent variable of CD-RISC scores of those participants who had received Reintegration After Critical Incident programming after their incident were found to be statistically significant in comparison to those participants' CD-RISC scores who did not receive Reintegration After

Critical Incident programming after their incident as analyzed via the One-Way ANOVA, $(F(1,66) = 5.67, p = .020, \eta^2 = .0791)$. The eta-square was determined to be a medium effect size.

Research Question 2

Do police officers in organizations who attend the Reintegration After

Critical Incident program after a critical incident and/or line of duty shooting report higher PTG composite scores, as measured by the Post Traumatic Growth Inventory scale, compared to police officers in organizations who do not administer the Reintegration After Critical Incident program?

The method of data analysis determined was the One-Way ANOVA. A test of homogeneity of variances found the significance value to be .448, not statistically significant adhering to the requirement that the variance for both groups is equal. The independent variable of PTG scores of those participants who had received Reintegration After Critical Incident programming after their incident were not found to be statistically significant in comparison to those participants' PTG composite scores who did not receive Reintegration After Critical Incident programming after their incident as measured through the One-Way ANOVA, (F(1,66) = 2.298, p = 1.34).

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this quantitative study was to determine whether a statistically significant relationship existed between the Reintegration After Critical Incident program, resilience and PTG. The second aspect was its impact, if any on those police officers involved in the critical incident and/or line of duty shooting. The reintegrative component to mental health resources in policing organizations is lacking and this resource has been shown to contribute to the prevention of serious mental issues, including PTSD. Identifying whether resilience and PTG scores are a statistically significant component in relation to the Reintegration After Critical Incident programming to this literature is key in speaking to how organizations can support the reduction and prevention of serious mental health issues. Since its inception in 2009, the Reintegration After Critical Incident programming, has evolved gradually to various policing organizations in Canada. Very few have had the program in use for longer than two years of those few who have adopted it in its entirety.

This study may have benefitted from further questions being asked, for example, inquiring if the participant's organization had the Reintegration After Critical Incident programming in place. Since existing resources for police officers have been found to support the feeling of being valued, although Police Officers who did not complete the programming itself may have scored high on the CD-RISC, feeling valued as a result of available resources may have played a part. Including the Stress Workplace Survey scale may have supported the outcome of the results in relation to personal growth. The study itself could be more involved and include a longitudinal collection of data to inform how time impacts resilience and PTG scores alongside the Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. Finally, there may be a variety of reintegration programming available in policing organizations that may fill the gap in reintegrative resources specifically for Police Officers that may be just as effective as the

Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. This particular program was the only one of its kind implemented in multiple organizations and available for study. It is more the effectiveness of reintegrative programming that could use further, in-depth study.

Police officers are and continue to be exposed to what the general population would consider to be traumatic incidents on a daily basis in the course of their duties and this exposure continues to have an effect on their mental health, often causing them to be a liability on the job and/or being off on long-term disability, to suicide (Carleton et al., 2019; Violanti, 2006; Weltman et al., 2014). Programs that support Police Officers in processing these traumatic events may prevent serious mental health issues such as PTSD, anxiety, depression and eventually suicide (Klose & Mooney, 2018; Thornton & Herndon, 2016). The goal of the study was to gain a better understanding of the statistical relationship between the Reintegration After Critical Incident programming, resilience and PTG composite scores.

Interpretation of Findings

Police officers were given a survey that included an information gathering questionnaire, resilience and PTG scales to complete. The CD-RISC and PTGI scales were designed to measure resilience and PTG in those participating. The information gathering questionnaire informed the study on some basic demographics, what programming/training they may have received, mental health resources as well as the police officer's degree of experience of their critical incident and mental health resources utilized.

The results were found to be statistically significant in the One-Way ANOVA comparison with the Connor Davidson-Resilience Inventory Scale (CD-RISC) in the comparative groups and no statistical significance was found in the PTGI scores comparison. Although there was no statistical significance in the analysis of the scores obtained in the PTGI research question and significance was

found in the group of scores obtained on the CD-RISC, the group of Police Officers who participated in the Reintegration After Critical Incident programming was small compared to the group who did not receive Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. Most of those in the "received Reintegration After Critical Incident programming," (31 out of 35) that responded were involved in a line of duty shooting incident. There were 21 out of the 35 who participated in the Reintegration After Critical Incident programming that were mandated by the organization to do so and 14 who were not mandated. There is a debate as to whether this type of programming should be mandated to ensure the police officer obtains the mental health care they may need rather than allowing the police officers themselves to decide whether they need this resource. As police officers encounter many barriers such as the stigma of needing mental health care and the understanding that their exposure to these critical incidents can cause serious mental health issues leading to PTSD, mandated attendance ensures this resource is administered. Resilience plays an integral role in mental health and the self-efficacy of the police officer in both their role as a Police Officer and in the processing of their critical/traumatic incidents. The statistical significance of this research question may support the importance of a reintegration program such as Reintegration After Critical Incident program for members of policing organizations. PTGI scores had a large degree of variance amongst the respondents and was perhaps not the most applicable tool for measuring an important mental health component or perhaps should have been amended to the culture of the policing population that was included in the study.

Limitations of the Study

There were several limitations to the study. Although the number of participants exceeded the requirements for a strong study, the two groups being compared were very unbalanced, creating challenges in the data analysis. Furthermore, the group who received Reintegration After Critical

Incident programming were limited as the program has only been implemented in a few policing organizations in Canada. Those organizations who have implemented the program have been operational with this program for under two years. One of the participating organizations expressed a concern for survey "burnout" and advised the participant pool may be limited. The participants were Canadian and therefore may not be generalizable to an international population however there may be some strong similarities. There may be a variety of reintegration programming available in policing organizations that may fill the gap in reintegrative resources specifically for police officers that may be just as effective as the Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. This particular program was the only one of its kind implemented in multiple organizations and available for study.

Recommendations

Police officers are exposed to critical and potentially traumatic incidents on a regular basis throughout their career. Although the statistical findings were not significant in the area of PTG, statistical significance in the area of resilience that were statistically significant may warrant further research in greater depth in relation to reintegration programming. The Reintegration After Critical Incident programming has been shown to be effective in other studies and understanding what components support that significance such as resilience, may impact policing organizations in their decision-making process as to what resources are key to supporting the mental health of their members. Researchers could examine whether the organizations have Reintegration After Critical Incident programming available to them and whether they feel valued by their organization. Feeling valued may be a component worth examining in relation to this resource.

Using larger, with more balanced sample groups is recommended in order to truly examine the scores of these measures. Replacing the PTGI with the Stress Workplace Survey may be more

appropriate for this group as the questions in the PTGI were specific to the incident in question and may not reflect accurately the PTG that occurs with the overall of critical incidents experienced. Finally, a longitudinal study may be considered for those Police Officers who choose to participate in future studies.

Implications

The results of the two, One-Way ANOVAs was statistical significance in the relationship between Reintegration After Critical Incident programming and resilience, and no statistical significance with PTG. Results provided information about the contribution Reintegration After Critical Incident programming may deliver in relation to resilience, a key component to mental health wellness. The lack of Reintegration After Critical Incident programming being delivered/available to police officers and implemented in general in policing organizations were one of the challenges of this study as only two policing organizations found with this programming participated in this study. The PTGI may have not been the most applicable measure in determining the key components delivered by this reintegration programming. Resilience and PTG are contributors to sound mental health in police officers as are other factors. While no statistical significance was found in the relationship between Reintegration After Critical Incident programming and PTG, resilience was found to be statistically significant related to Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. Resilience is a key component to mental health wellness in police officers. Other interesting results were garnered from this research. For instance, there were some questions that were not asked that may have contributed to the higher scores of those who have not participated in Reintegration After Critical Incident programming. As research has shown, available resources are key in feeling valued as a police officer and Reintegration After Critical Incident programming is one of those resources. It is important police officers receive the mental health

resources they need to prevent serious mental health issues as a result of their exposure to critical/traumatic incidents and the culture in which they are immersed in.

Conclusion

Police officers will always be exposed to traumatic and/or critical incidents in their line of work and it will continue to impact their mental health. One program, Reintegration After Critical Incident programming, has been shown to play a part in the prevention of PTSD and other serious mental health issues. Understanding resilience, PTG levels and their relationship in the delivery of this reintegration programming may be key, as they are also factors to be considered in the prevention of PTSD and other serious mental health issues. Statistical significance was found in the relationship between Reintegration After Critical Incident programming and resilience using the One-Way ANOVA. Although there was no statistical significance found in Reintegration After Critical Incident programming and PTG, this study has brought forth other important factors in examining the effectiveness and relationship between this programming and other related components that have been found to be effective in the prevention and reduction of PTSD and mental health issues.

Mental health issues are a major contributor to workplace absenteeism as well as they may contribute to the police officer becoming a liability in their actions as they execute their duties. The intention of mental health resources and especially that of the Reintegration After Critical Incident programming is to minimize the severity of mental health issues and to ensure police officers return to their position within their organization so they can serve their community. Further research is recommended in the area of the particular resource of reintegration, to support and grow those resources

that may be most effective in the prevention and development of serious mental health issues in police officers.

References

- Arble, E., Lumley, M. A., Pole, N., Blessman, J., & Arnetz, B. B. (2017). Refinement and preliminary testing of an imagery-based program to improve coping and performance and prevent trauma among urban police officers. *Journal of Police and Criminal Psychology*, 32(1), 1-10. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11896-016-9191-z
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1986). The explanatory and predictive scope of self-efficacy theory. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 4(3), 359-373. http://dx.doi.org/10.1521/jscp.1986.4.3.359
- Beagley, M. C., Peterson, Z. D., Strasshofer, D. R., & Galovski, T. E. (2018). Sex differences in posttraumatic stress and depressive symptoms in police officers following exposure to violence in ferguson. *Policing*, *41*(5), 623-635. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/PIJPSM-01-2017-0007
- Bernier, R. (2018). Suicide in law enforcement: Protecting those who serve. Homeland Security Affairs, Retrieved from https://search-proquest-com. org/docview/2206259222?accountid=14872
- Blackie, L. E., Jayawickreme, E., Tsukayama, E., Forgeard, M. J., Roepke, A. M., & Fleeson, W. (2017). Post-traumatic growth as positive personality change: Developing a measure to assess within-person variability. *Journal of Research in Personality, 69*, 22–32. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.jrp.2016.04.001
- Blumberg, D. M., Papazoglou, K., & Schlosser, M. D. (2020). Organizational Solutions to the Moral Risks of Policing. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(20). https://doi-org/10.3390/ijerph17207461
- Bolton, K. W., Hall, J. C., Blundo, R., & Lehmann, P. (2017). The role of resilience and resilience

- theory in solution-focused practice. *Journal of Systemic Therapies*, *36*(3), 1–15. https://doi-org/10.1521/jsyt.2017.36.3.1
- Campbell-Sills, L., Stein, M. B., Campbell-Sills, L., & Stein, M. B. (2007). 10-Item Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 20(6), 1019–1028. Retrieved from https://searchebscohost-com..org.direct=true&db=hpi&AN=HaPI-262806&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Cann, A., Calhoun, L. G., Tedeschi, R. G., Taku, K., Vishnevsky, T., Triplett, K. N., ... Milam, J. E. (2018). Posttraumatic Growth Inventory--Short Form. *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology, 36*(2), 175–188. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost-com. org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=hpi&AN=HaPI-424261&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Calhoun, L. G., & Tedeschi, R. G. (2004). The Foundations of Posttraumatic Growth: New Considerations. *Psychological Inquiry*, *15*(1), 93–102. https://doi-org/10.1207/s15327965pli1501_03
- Campeau, H. (2015). "Police Culture" at work: Making sense of police oversight. *British Journal of Criminology*, 55(4), 669–687. https://doi-org/10.1093/bjc/azu093
- Carleton, R. N., Afifi, T. O., Turner, S., Taillieu, T., Duranceau, S., LeBouthillier, D. M., Sareen, J.,
 Ricciardelli, R., MacPhee, R. S., Groll, D., Hozempa, K., Brunet, A., Weekes, J. R., Griffiths, C.
 T., Abrams, K. J., Jones, N. A., Beshai, S., Cramm, H. A., Dobson, K. S., ... Asmundson, G. J.
 G. (2018). Mental Disorder Symptoms among Public Safety Personnel in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry-Revue Canadienne de Psychiatrie*, 63(1), 54–64. https://doi-org/10.1177/0706743717723825
- Chopko, B. A. (2010). Posttraumatic distress and growth: An empirical study of police officers. *American Journal of Psychotherapy, 64*(1), 55–72. https://doi-org

- /10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.2010.64.1.55
- Chopko, B. A., Palmieri, P. A., & Adams, R. E. (2018). Relationships among traumatic experiences, PTSD, and posttraumatic growth for police officers: A path analysis. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 10*(2), 183–189. https://doi-org/10.1037/tra0000261.supp (Supplemental)
- Chopko, B. A., Palmieri, P. A., & Adams, R. E. (2019). Posttraumatic growth in relation to the frequency and severity of traumatic experiences among police officers in small to midsize departments. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *34*(6), 1247–1260. https://doi-org/10.1177/0886260516651089
- Conley, A. H., Overstreet, C. M., Hawn, S. E., Kendler, K. S., Dick, D. M., Amstadter, A. B., Conley, A. H., Overstreet, C. M., Hawn, S. E., Kendler, K. S., Dick, D. M., & Amstadter, A. B. (2017).

 Connor-Davidson resilience scale--modified. *Journal of American College Health*, 65(1), 41–49.
- Connor, K. M., Davidson, J. R. T., Campbell-Sills, L., & Stein, M. B. (2007). Connor-Davidson

 Resilience Scale. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 20(6), 1019–1028. Retrieved from https://searchebscohost-com.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=hpi&AN=HaPI-262807&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Connor, K. M., Davidson, J. R. T., Beck, C. E., Gonzales, F. J., Sells, C. H., Jones, C., Reer, T., ... Zhu, Y. Y. (2012). Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale. *Army Medical Department Journal*, 38–45.

 Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost-com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=hpi&AN=HaPI-373261&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Conor, P., Robson, J., Marcellus, S. (October 4, 2018). Canadian centre for justice statistics. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/85-002-x/2019001/article/00015-eng.htm

- Cooke, F. L., Wang, J., & Bartram, T. (2019). Can a supportive workplace impact employee resilience in a high-pressure performance environment? An investigation of the chinese banking industry.

 Applied Psychology: An International Review. https://doi-org/10.1111/apps.12184
- Cordner, G. (2017). Police culture: individual and organizational differences in police officer perspectives. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management*, (1), 11. https://doi-org/10.1108/PIJPSM-07-2016-0116
- Donnelly, E., Valentine, C., & Oehme, K. (2015). Law enforcement officers and Employee Assistance

 Programs. *Policing: An International Journal*, 38(2), 206–220. https://doi-org/10.1108/PIJPSM-11-2014-0116
- Evans, R., Pistrang, N. & Billings, J. (2013). Police officers' experiences of supportive and unsupportive social interactions following traumatic incidents. European *Journal of Psychotraumatology*, (0), 1. https://doi-org/10.3402/ejpt.v4i0.19696
- Fletcher, D., & Sarkar, M. (2013). Psychological resilience a review and critique of definitions, concepts, and theory. *European Psychologist*, 18(1), 12–23. https://doi-org/10.1027/1016-9040/a000124
- Foureur, M., Besley, K., Burton, G., Yu, N., & Crisp, J. (2013). Enhancing the resilience of nurses and midwives: pilot of a mindfulness-based program for increased health, sense of coherence and decreased depression, anxiety and stress. *Contemporary Nurse*, 45(1), 114–125. https://doi-org/10.5172/conu.2013.45.1.114
- Galatzer-Levy, I. R., Brown, A. D., Henn-Haase, C., Metzler, T. J., Neylan, T. C., & Marmar, C. R. (June, 2013). Positive and Negative Emotion Prospectively Predict Trajectories of Resilience and Distress Among High-Exposure Police Officers. *Emotion*, *13*(3), 545–553. https://doi-org

- /10.1037/a0031314
- Gonzalez, S. P., Moore, E. W. G., Newton, M., & Galli, N. A. (2016). Validity and reliability of the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC) in competitive sport. *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*, 23, 31–39. https://doi- org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2015.10.005
- Hakan Can, S., & Hendy, H. M. (2014). Police Stressors, Negative Outcomes Associated with Them and Coping Mechanisms that May Reduce These Associations. *Police Journal*, 87(3), 167–177. https://doi-org/10.1350/pojo.2014.87.3.676
- Hansson, J., Hurtig, A., Lauritz, L., & Padyab, M. (2017). Swedish police officers' job strain, work-related social support and general mental health. *Journal of Police and Criminal Psychology*, 32(2), 128-137. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11896-016-9202-0
- Jeong, H. S., Kang, I., Namgung, E., Im, J. J., Jeon, Y., Son, J., Yu, S., Kim, S., Yoon, S., Lyoo, I. K., Chung, Y.-A., Lim, J.-H., & Kim, J. E. (2015). Validation of the Korean version of the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale-2 in firefighters and rescue workers. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 59, 123–128. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2015.01.006
- Marchand, A., Nadeau, C., Beaulieu-Prévost, D., Boyer, R., & Martin, M. (2015). Predictors of posttraumatic stress disorder among police officers: A prospective study. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 7*(3), 212–221. https://doi-org/10.1037/a0038780.supp (Supplemental)
- Martin, M., Marchand, A., Boyer, R., & Martin, N. (2009). Predictors of the development of posttraumatic stress disorder among police officers. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 10(4), 451–468. https://doi-org/10.1080/15299730903143626
- McCanlies, E. C., Mnatsakanova, A., Andrew, M. E., Burchfiel, C. M., & Violanti, J. M. (2014).

- Positive psychological factors are associated with lower PTSD symptoms among police officers: Post hurricane Katrina. *Stress and Health, 30*(5), 405–415. https://doi-org/10.1002/smi.2615
- McCraty, R., & Atkinson, M. (2012). Resilience training program reduces physiological and psychological stress in police officers. *Global Advances in Health and Medicine*, 1(5), 44–66. https://doi-org/10.7453/gahmj.2012.1.5.013
- McCreary, D. R., Fong, I., & Groll, D. L. (2017). Measuring policing stress meaningfully: Establishing norms and cut-off values for the Operational and Organizational Police Stress Questionnaires.

 *Police Practice & Research: An International Journal, 18(6), 612–623. https://doi-org/10.1080/15614263.2017.1363965
- Ménard, K. S., & Arter, M. L. (2013). Police officer alcohol use and trauma symptoms: Associations with critical incidents, coping, and social stressors. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 20(1), 37–56. https://doi-org/10.1037/a0031434
- Munoz, R. T., Brady, S., & Brown, V. (2017). The psychology of resilience: A model of the relationship of locus of control to hope among survivors of intimate partneviolence. *Traumatology*, 23(1), 102–111. https://doi-org/10.1037/trm0000102
- Nolty, A. A. T., Bosch, D. S., An, E., Clements, C. T., & Buckwalter, J. G. (2018). The Headington Institute Resilience Inventory (HIRI): Development and validation for humanitarian aid workers.

 *International Perspectives in Psychology: Research, Practice, Consultation, 7(1), 35–57.

 https://doi-org/10.1037/ipp0000080
- Pair, J. M. (2018). A Qualitative Inquiry into the Phenomenon of Vicarious Resilience in Law Enforcement Officers. ScholarWorks. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost-com.org/6523&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Papazoglou, K., & Andersen, J. P. (2014). A guide to utilizing police training as a tool to promote resilience and improve health outcomes among police officers. *Traumatology*, (2), 103. https://doi-org/10.1037/h0099394
- Park, O. B., Im, H., & Na, C. (2018). The consequences of traumatic events on resilience among South Korean police officers: Mediation and moderation analyses. *Policing*, *41*(1), 144-158. Retrieved from https://org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com/docview/1991893134
- Paton, D., Violanti, J. M., Johnston, P., Burke, K. J., Clarke, J., & Keenan, D. (2008). Stress shield: A model of police resiliency. *International Journal of Emergency Mental Health*, 10(2), 95–108. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost-com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=2008-11418-003&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Patterson, G. T., Chung, I. W., & Swan, P. W. (2014). Stress management interventions for police officers and recruits: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 10(4), 487-513. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11292-014-9214-7
- Piotrowski, N. A. (2018). American Psychological Association (APA). Salem Press Encyclopedia of Health. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost-com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ers&AN=93871761&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Price, M. (2017). Psychiatric Disability in Law Enforcement Officers. *Behavioral Sciences & The Law*, 35(2), 113–123. https://doi-org/10.1002/bsl.2278
- Rose, T., & Unnithan, P. (2015). In or out of the group? police subculture and occupational stress.

 *Policing, 38(2), 279-294. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/PIJPSM-10-2014-0111
- Satici, S. A. (2016). Psychological vulnerability, resilience, and subjective well-being: The mediating role of hope. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 102, 68–73. https://doi-org

- /10.1016/j.paid.2016.06.057
- Saunders, J., Kotzias, V., & Ramchand, R. (2019). Contemporary police stress: The impact of the evolving socio-political context. *Criminology, Criminal Justice, Law & Society, 20*(1), 35-52. Retrieved from https://search-proquest-com./docview/2238522631
- Sollie, H., Kop, N., & Euwema, M. C. (2017). Mental resilience of crime scene investigators: How police officers perceive and cope with the impact of demanding work situations. *Criminal Justice* and behavior, 44(12), 1580–1603. https://doi-org/10.1177/0093854817716959
- Taylor, S. E. (1983). Adjustment to threatening events: A theory of cognitive adaptation. *American Psychologist*, 38(11), 1161–1173. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/0003-066X.38.11.1161
- Tedeschi, R. G., Calhoun, L. G., Borowa, D., Robitschek, C., Harmon, K. A., & Shigemoto, Y. (2016).

 Posttraumatic Growth Inventory. *Journal of American College Health, 64*(7), 527–534.

 Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost-com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=hpi&AN=HaPI-414803&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Tedeschi, R. G., Calhoun, L. G., Metcalf, C. A., Arch, J. J., & Greer, J. A. (2017). Posttraumatic Growth Inventory. *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, *35*(5), 597–613. Retrieved from https://searchebscohost-com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=hpi&AN=HaPI-420247&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Thornton, M. A., & Herndon, J. (2016). Emotion Regulation in Police Officers Following Distress:

 Effects of Tenure and Critical Incidents. *Journal of Police and Criminal Psychology*, (4), 304.

 https://doi-org/10.1007/s11896-015-9186-1
- van der Meulen, E., van der Velden, P. G., Setti, I., & van Veldhoven, M. J. (2018). Predictive value of psychological resilience for mental health disturbances: A three-wave prospective study among

- police officers. *Psychiatry Research*, 260, 486–494. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.12.014
- van der Werff, S. J. A., Elzinga, B. M., Smit, A. S., & van der Wee, N. J. A. (2017). Structural brain correlates of resilience to traumatic stress in Dutch police officers. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 85, 172–178. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2017.08.019
- Van Hasselt, V. B., Klimley, K. E., Rodriguez, S., Themis-Fernandez, M., Henderson, S. N., & Schneider, B. A. (2019). Peers as Law Enforcement Support (PALS): An early prevention program. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 48, 1–5. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.avb.2019.05.004
- Violanti, J. M. (2006). The police: Perspectives on trauma and resiliency. *Traumatology*, *12*(3), 167–169. https://doi-org/10.1177/1534765606296998
- Violanti, J. M., Ma, C. C., Mnatsakanova, A., Fekedulegn, D., Hartley, T. A., Gu, J. K., & Andrew, M.
 E. (2018). Associations between police work stressors and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms: Examining the moderating effects of coping. *Journal of Police and Criminal Psychology*, 33(3), 271-282. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11896-018-9276-y
- Waters, J. A., & Ussery, W. (2007). Police stress: history, contributing factors, symptoms, and interventions. *Policing: An International Journal*, 30(2), 169–188. Retrieved from https://org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=398805 33&site=eds-live&scope=site